STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

—————
Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge
—————

WILLIAM BRUCE JUSTICE,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001718
—————

BRIEF OF PETITIONER
—————

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED
Nov 09 2020
SC Court of Appeals

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the PCR court err by denying Petitioner relief, where Petitioner was denied the minimum level of due process, including his right of confrontation and cross-examination of witnesses at two parole revocation hearings in contravention of the longstanding United States Supreme Court decision Morrissey v. Brewer which guarantees parolees such a right, and where there was no testimony presented from the State's only witness, Petitioner's parole agent, that either the administrative hearing officer or the parole board made a specific finding that any of the witnesses would be subjected to harm or that good cause existed for not allowing confrontation?

II. Did the PCR court err by denying Petitioner relief, where Petitioner was likewise denied his right of disclosure of evidence against him, his right of an opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence, and his right of a written statement by the factfinders as to the evidence relied on and reasons for revoking parole which are likewise constitutionally protected, and where Petitioner also received disparate treatment based upon his *pro se* nature?

III. Whether South Carolina's statute outlawing the right to confront witnesses at a parole revocation hearing fails to meet the minimum requirements of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and as a result is flagrantly unconstitutional?

IV. Whether any of the matters described herein are moot, where at least one exception to the mootness doctrine is present in Petitioner's case, where the conduct admitted to by the parole agent and actions of the parole board are not only capable of repetition but likely designed to deny due process rights, and where the delay in bringing the PCR and subsequent appeal may prevent relief?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted in February 1989 for four counts of burglary second, two counts of grand larceny, and two counts of petit larceny. He was represented by Frederick I. Hall, III. On June 28, 1989, Petitioner was found guilty as indicted. He was sentenced to sixty years' imprisonment on the burglary charges, twenty years on the grand larceny charges, and one month on each of the petit larceny charge by the Honorable Marion H. Kinon. The burglary sentences were ordered to run consecutive to one another, and the remaining sentences ran concurrently.

Petitioner's convictions and sentence were affirmed by this Court following appellate representation by Franklin W. Draper. State v. William Bruce Justice, 91-MO-200 (S.C. Sup. Ct, filed July 16, 1991).

Petitioner also filed a *pro se* Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court, District of South Carolina on May 15, 1989. Justice v. Bost, et al., 3:89-1232-OJ. The Honorable Matthew J. Perry, Jr. filed an Order on January 1990 granting the Respondent's motion for summary judgment thereby dismissing Petitioner's 1989 Petition without prejudice based upon Petitioner's failure to exhaust his remedies in state court.

Soon thereafter, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on or about August 18, 1992. The State made its Return on or about October 8, 1992. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Daniel E. Martin, Sr. on June 7, 1995. Petitioner was represented by John R. Rakowsky, and Allen Bullard represented the State. Judge Martin denied relief by way of written order on July 19, 1995.

Lesley M. Coggiola filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari following the denial of Petitioner's 1992 PCR. This Court denied certiorari on June 19, 1996.

Petitioner then filed a second Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District, District of South Carolina on July 10, 2003. On February 4, 2004, Senior United States District Judge Matthew J. Perry, Jr. issued an Order approving the Report and Recommendation of United States Magistrate Judge Robert S. Carr and thereby dismissing Petitioner's action.

On or about May 2, 2012, Petitioner was granted parole by the South Carolina Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services. Parole was to take effect from May 3, 2012 until March 6, 2032. A warrant was issued for Petitioner's arrest on August 7, 2013 following allegations that Petitioner violated four conditions of his parole.

Petitioner attended two hearings related to his parole revocation: a preliminary hearing and a revocation hearing. The former took place on August 27, 2013 at the Kershaw County Detention Center. Petitioner represented himself. Also present at the hearing were the Administrative Officer, Petitioner's parole agent, and two witnesses. The revocation hearing occurred on or about October 16, 2013. Petitioner was found to have violated four conditions of his parole, and his parole was revoked. He was ordered to serve the remainder of his sentence.

Petitioner filed a timely application for post-conviction relief on February 26, 2014. App. 251 – 265. It contained allegations that Petitioner's parole was revoked unlawfully, including the following claim:

Petitioner was denied the right to confront and question witnesses testifying against him that is guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the South Carolina Constitution and the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (see forms stock #36, #1122, and #1124, therefore Due Process was violated[]).

App. 258.

The State made its Return on or about May 27, 2015 App. 266 – 274. A hearing on the State's motion to dismiss was held before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely on April 21, 2016.

App. 275. Anna R. Good represented Petitioner, and Caitlin Hastings appeared on behalf of the State. The PCR court denied the State's motion. App. 291 ll. 4 – 18.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. on February 1, 2017. App. 298. Anna Good again represented Petitioner, and Johanna Valenzuela appeared on behalf of the State. The court heard testimony from Petitioner and Nikita Cook, Petitioner's parole agent and an employee for the South Carolina Department of Probation, Pardon and Parole. At the conclusion of the hearing, the PCR judge took the matter under advisement. App. 343 ll. 4 – 21.

An Order of Dismissal was filed on August 2, 2017. App. 350. The PCR court found that Petitioner's due process rights were not violated. App. 360 – 361. A notice of appeal was filed with the South Carolina Supreme Court. The undersigned filed a petition for writ of certiorari on May 14, 2018. The state filed its return on September 28, 2018, and the undersigned filed a Reply on October 8, 2018. The case was transferred to this Court pursuant to Rule 243(l), SCACR, on January 8, 2019.

This Court granted certiorari on June 30, 2020 and issued an amended order granting certiorari on July 9, 2020. This Brief of Respondent follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court erred by denying Petitioner relief, where Petitioner was denied the minimum level of due process, including his right of confrontation and cross-examination of witnesses at two parole revocation hearings in contravention of the longstanding United States Supreme Court decision Morrissey v. Brewer which guarantees parolees such a right, and where there was no testimony presented from the state's only witness, Petitioner's parole agent, that either the administrative hearing officer or the parole board made a specific finding that any of the witnesses would be subjected to harm or that good cause existed for not allowing confrontation.

Petitioner was deprived of numerous due process rights at the preliminary hearing and the revocation hearing in his parole revocation case. Both his parole agent and the parole board showed no regard for his constitutional rights and seemed intent on only revoking his parole without any thoughts to fairness or justice. The evidence needed to reverse the PCR court in this matter comes from the audio contained on the CD from the revocation hearing as well as the unequivocal PCR testimony from both Petitioner and the parole agent.

Standard of Review

South Carolina appellate courts reviews questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts, and “will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law.” Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012) (quoting Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 101, 665 S.E.2d 164, 167-68 (2008)); see also Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 8439-40 n.2 (2018).

Relevant facts

The audio from the revocation hearing validates both Petitioner's written PCR allegations as well as his testimony at the PCR hearing. CD Containing Audio of Petitioner's Parole Revocation Hearing. At the 2:37 mark, Petitioner was asked if there was anything he wanted to "add in this case" following the allegations by the parole agent. Petitioner noted that he was deprived of his right to confront witnesses at the preliminary hearing. Audio 2:39 – 3:06. Petitioner then told the parole board that he wished to explain what happened. Id. He was met with an immediate "no" from the parole board member who was speaking. Id. The board member seemed to suggest that Petitioner was deemed to have violated his parole and nothing could change his mind. Audio 3:06 – 3:22.

After notifying the parole board that he was deprived of his constitutional rights, Petitioner was given approximately two minutes to provide his account of the circumstances giving rise to the parole revocation action. Audio 2:39 – 5:11. During questioning by the parole board member, Petitioner was repeatedly interrupted as he attempted to explain the situation. He answered in a straightforward fashion when asked about a scuffle; Petitioner defended himself on his own property, and a neighbor called the police.¹ Id. Notably, Petitioner denied the allegation that he had hit anyone with a metal pipe. Id. As Petitioner continued to explain the facts, he was interrupted yet again, and the parole board member stated: "We have enough information. We have reviewed the facts here so please step outside. We'll make a decision." Audio 4:50 – 5:10.

Outside of Petitioner's presence, two witnesses were introduced to the parole board. Audio 5:29 – 10:01. These two witnesses, Ms. Cotton and Ms. Wessinger, were afforded much

¹ Petitioner testified similarly at his PCR evidentiary hearing, over two years later. App. 312 ll. 3 – 16.

more deference and respect than Petitioner. The parole board member did not repeatedly interrupt Cotton; he repeatedly said “okay” and “right” as she spoke, signifying interest. Cotton was afforded more time to speak than Petitioner, and her remarks were rife with objectionable statements. After hearing from Cotton, the decision was made to revoke. Audio 10:06 – 10:11.

Petitioner knew that his rights were trampled on, and so at the outset of his PCR action, Petitioner concisely pled in his application the following facts which on their face support the contention that his parole was unlawfully revoked:

[On] August 27, 2013, Petitioner was denied his right to confront and question the adverse witnesses testifying against him at his preliminary hearing when the hearing officer left the room and took testimony from the adverse witnesses outside the presence of the Petitioner. (Orally taped by the hearing officer and witnessed by Ms. Cook, his parole agent. (On record)[]).

[On] October 16, 2013, Petitioner was against denied his right to confront and question the adverse witness at his Revocation Hearing by the Parole Board itself, cutting the Petitioner off when he tried to question the witness ... who was sitting right next to him. (Video Taped by the Parole Board and witnessed by Ms. Cook, his parole agent). (On record).

App. 258 – 259.

Included in Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief were the forms he listed, #26, #1122, and #1124. App. 260 – 262. Each of these forms indicate that Petitioner had a right to confront and question any person who appeared as a witness against him, and as will be explained below, the law requires that he be afforded that right as well as others.

The uniqueness of this claim resulted in a motion to dismiss being brought by the state. At a hearing before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely on April 19, 2016, the state requested dismissal of Petitioner’s claims. App. 277 l. 12 – 281 l. 7. During its recitation of the procedural history and facts of the case, the state admitted that the hearing officer at the preliminary hearing took the testimony of two adverse witnesses outside of Petitioner’s presence. App. 280 ll. 8 – 20. As

articulated by PCR counsel in response to the motion to dismiss, Petitioner's matter was correctly brought under the PCR statute:

To start off with, the stated statute, South Carolina Code Section 17-27-20(a), a person who has been convicted of or sentenced for a crime can file a PCR ... if his parole or conditional release is unlawfully revoked. It is our position ... that it was unlawfully revoked in the sense of a due process claim."

App. 281 ll. 16 – 23. In particular, counsel argued that testimony was taken from witnesses who Petitioner was neither able to hear nor cross-examine. App. 281 l. 23 – App. 282 l. 2. Additionally, Petitioner asked for but never received copies of the incident reports related to his arrest which set in motion the revocation proceedings. App. 282 ll. 3 – 17.

The state then argued that Petitioner's claims were "inappropriate for a PCR review." App. 283 l. 5- 284 l. 1. Citing S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-680, the state averred that decisions by the Parole Board cannot be appealed. Id. In response, PCR counsel argued that Petitioner's parole was unlawfully revoked and that the claim was therefore properly brought under the PCR statute:

The argument is that he was unlawfully revoked and that he did not have the opportunity under [the due process claim] to cross-examine or see any of the evidence against him or to hear the evidence that was - - the opportunity to counter that against the Parole Board and in the initial preliminary hearing at the Kershaw jail, because I believe that they were also present there, Your Honor.

App. 285 ll. 12 – 23.

The state then provided the due process requirements under Morrissey v. Brewer 408 U.S. 471, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972):

[I]n regards to the Applicant's argument of not being able to confront the witnesses, the United States Supreme Court case of Morrissey v. Brewer lays out the minimal requirements of due process for a parole revocation hearing and talks about how parole revocation hearings and administrative hearings are criminal hearings. Therefore the applicant is entitled to less procedural protections, in that the hearings are not meant to be flexible and lays out specifically what the minimal requirements are.

Those requirements are written notes of the claimed violations of parole; disclosure to the parolee of evidence against him; an opportunity to be heard in person, and to present witnesses and documentary evidence; the right to confront and examine witnesses unless the hearing officer **specifically** finds good cause for not allowing confrontation; a mutual and detached hearing body, such as a traditional parole board; and a written statement by the fact finders as to the evidence relied and the reasons for revoking parole.

In this case, the State finds that the hearing officer had more than good cause to disallow the confrontation of the two adverse witnesses.

App. 286 l. 11 – App. 287 l. 19. (emphasis added).

The PCR court inquired to counsel for the State whether such a specific finding was made:

Court: Did the judge make that finding?

Counsel: (No verbal response).

Court: Doesn't it require the judge, the actual parole officer, to make that finding?

Counsel: (No verbal response).

Court: What does it say?

Counsel: Uh, - - -

...

Court: And I don't think that there is an Order- - is there an Order in my packet that makes - - is there an Order from the Parole Board?

App. 287 l. 20 – App. 289 l. 19. Respondent admitted that such a finding could not be located in the parole hearing Order or the administrative hearing summary. App. 289 l. 20 – App. 290 l.

7.2

² This discussion notwithstanding, the Order of Dismissal still contained language that seemed to suggest a lack of such a finding could still be held against Petitioner: “This Court finds that while

Following additional discussion, the PCR court denied the State's motion to dismiss:

I think on the second ground - - I mean ... it sounds like they have a right to confront witnesses unless - - according to what you read to me - - there are specific findings saying that would not be appropriate.

In my review of that Order, the judge addresses that there are issues back and forth between the people but there's not a specific finding that that wouldn't be appropriate. So - - unless you have something else, I think this needs to proceed forward and actually have - - I believe it is the Court's position that your Motion should be denied.

App. 291 ll. 4 – 18.

Following the denial of the State's motion to dismiss, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. on February 1, 2017. App. 298. Anna Good again represented Petitioner, and Johanna Valenzuela appeared on behalf of the state. The court heard testimony from two people: Petitioner and Nikita Cook, Petitioner's parole agent and an employee for the South Carolina Department of Probation, Pardon and Parole. Two exhibits were entered into evidence, a violation report and a script utilized by Cook. App. 347 – 349.

Testimony of Petitioner

Petitioner made parole on May 3, 2012. App. 301 ll. 14 – 15. He was arrested for alleged parole violations in August 2013. App. 301 ll. 11 – 13. He indicated that one of the alleged parole violations involved contact with his prior employer. App. 301 l. 19 – App. 302 l. 21. The other two parole conditions which he recalled the State claiming that he violated were a payment arrearage and drinking to excess. Id.

Petitioner advised the PCR court that his first parole revocation preliminary hearing was attempted but then rescheduled due to technical difficulties with the telephones. App. 302 l. 23 –

it is unclear of whether there was a finding on the record of danger to the witnesses, there is testimony that the parole agent knew the witnesses had been allegedly subject to a physical attack by Applicant.” App. 361.

App. 303 l. 12. The second preliminary hearing was held in a conference room at the Kershaw County Jail. App. 303 ll. 13 – 14. In the room with Petitioner were the parole examiner and Petitioner’s parole officer, Cook. App. 303 ll. 16 – 20. Two witnesses against Petitioner, his former employer Ms. Cotton and her husband, were present at the facility but not in the conference room. App. 304 ll. 2 – 6.

Petitioner recalled Cook read allegations against him from a piece of paper without much specificity. App. 303 l. 21 – App. 304 l. 1. Because Cotton neither spoke nor testified under oath in Petitioner’s presence, he was unaware at the time of the evidentiary hearing what was said. App. 304 ll. 7 – 14. As a result, Petitioner was unable to respond to any allegations made by either witness or cross-examine them. Id.

Petitioner wanted to utilize his right of confrontation regarding Cotton, because she “made a bunch of false accusations” against him. App. 305 ll. 2 – 18. Petitioner notified the PCR court that Cotton had applications on her phone which could spoof caller ID’s and text messages. Id. However, he was never allowed to cross-examine or even confront Cotton.

Petitioner requested an attorney on more than one occasion. App. 304 ll. 15 – 19. He was never provided one, because “[t]he parole office doesn’t ... appoint lawyers.” App. 304 l. 20 – App. 305 l. 1. All in all, Petitioner was deprived of his right of confrontation and his right to view the evidence against him. App. 304 l. 2 – 305 l. 18. Further, the current procedures for requesting an attorney appear illusory, such that no individual who is facing parole revocation could or would ever receive counsel.

Following the hearing in August 2013 at the Kershaw County Jail, Petitioner attended a second hearing before two members of the Parole Board at Lee Correctional in October 2013.

App. 305 ll. 19 – 25. Petitioner’s recollections of this hearing over two years later, as compared to the audio CD, was remarkably accurate.

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