RECEIVED

May 13 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017–001718

WILLIAM BRUCE JUSTICE,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LILLIAN L. MEADOWS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103665

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734–3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. This Court should dismiss this appeal as moot because Petitioner is no longer incarcerated or otherwise subject to supervision such that a favorable decision would have no practical legal effect on his situation and where the conduct giving rise to this action is not evading review because any person claiming their parole has been unconstitutionally revoked may pursue post-conviction relief.**

As an initial matter, this Court directed the parties to address whether the denial of Petitioner's PCR application is moot. "A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon the existing controversy." *Mathis v. S.C. State Highway Dep't*, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973). "Mootness also arises when some event occurs making it impossible for the reviewing court to grant effectual relief." *Id.* However, there are three exceptions to the mootness doctrine: (1) if the issue raised is capable of repetition but evading review; (2) if the issue before the appellate court is a question of "imperative and manifest urgency," and (3) if the decision by the trial court may affect future events or may have collateral consequences to the parties. *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 568, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001).

This case meets every definition of mootness, and the exceptions do not apply. Petitioner's argument against mootness is based entirely on a blatant mischaracterization of Agent Cook's testimony. Specifically, Petitioner contends his case is not moot based on (1) Petitioner's "denial of his right to receive disclosure of the evidence against him;" (2) that parolees are being "deprived of their rights to speak on their behalf and to present evidence and/or witnesses;" and (3) Cook's

testimony that she personally has never personally “seen a hearing officer determine that an individual was entitled to an attorney based on extraordinary circumstances.” These issues will be addressed more fully below.

Petitioner is correct that these events are capable of repetition because the “events” to which Petitioner is referring are the parole revocation proceedings in South Carolina. Petitioner claims the conduct evades review “because many of the inmates who are then re-incarcerated may not know that they may file a PCR application alleging that the process was unfair.” It is unclear how this particular matter is relevant to an inmate’s ability to file for PCR, just as Petitioner was able to. Any inmate who claims they “should not have been returned to prison” on the basis their parole has been unlawfully revoked may file a PCR action under section 17–27–20(a)(5). *Al-Shabazz v. State*, 338 S.C. 354, 368, 527 S.E.2d 742, 749 (2000); *see, e.g., Kerr v. State*, 345 S.C. 183, 186, 547 S.E.2d 494, 495 (2001).

As to Petitioner, there is simply nothing this Court can do that will have any effect on the Petitioner’s current situation. Petitioner is no longer incarcerated nor on parole or under any sort of supervision. He therefore no longer faces the prospects of additional revocation proceedings. This Court has no ability to rectify any error the PCR court purportedly made and this Court should dismiss the appeal as moot. However, should this Court find this matter is not moot and wishes to address the

merits of Petitioner’s argument, this Court should affirm the PCR court’s order denying relief.²

II. Petitioner’s claim that South Carolina’s statute restricting an inmate’s right to confrontation in parole hearings is not preserved for appellate review; however, the statute is not unconstitutional because it does not apply to parole revocation proceedings and therefore does not implicate *Morrissey’s* limited right to confrontation

Petitioner’s contention section 24–21–50 of the South Carolina Code is unconstitutional is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised nor ruled upon by the PCR court. For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912–13 (Ct. App. 2004); *see also* JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., *APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA* 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review); *cf. Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 567, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014) (“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide the Court with a platform for meaningful appellate review.”)).

If an issue is not presented to and ruled upon by the circuit court judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. *State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C.

² This Court should further deny Petitioner’s request to remand this case to the PCR court to address Petitioner’s unpreserved arguments.

125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Constitutional arguments are no exception to the issue preservation rule. *State v. Carlson*, 363 S.C. 586, 595–96, 611 S.E.2d 283, 288 (Ct. App. 2005); *see, e.g., State v. Owens*, 378 S.C. 636, 664 S.E.2d 80 (2008) (confrontation clause and due process arguments not preserved for review). Accordingly, the argument now made on appeal—that Petitioner’s constitutional rights were violated by way of section 24–21–50—is not preserved for this Court’s review. *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 481–82, 716 S.E.2d 91, 95 (2011).

In his argument regarding his purported right of confrontation, Petitioner aptly notes that this Court has authority to interpret the parole statute. “If a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no need to employ rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning.” *Hinton v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 357 S.C. 327, 334, 592 S.E.2d 335, 339 (Ct. App. 2004) (citations omitted). When the terms of a statute are clear, the court must apply those terms according to their literal meaning. *Cooper v. Moore*, 351 S.C. 207, 212, 569 S.E.2d 330, 332 (2002); *see also Parsons v. Georgetown Steel*, 318 S.C. 63, 65, 456 S.E.2d 366, 367 (1995) (“Whether the terms of a relevant statute are clear, there is no room for construction.”).

Section 24–21–50 states:

The board shall grant hearings and permit arguments and appearances by counsel or any individual before it at any such hearing while *considering a case for parole, pardon, or any other form of clemency* provided for under law. No inmate has a right of confrontation at the hearing.

(emphasis added). The language of the statute does not indicate or otherwise imply that it was intended to apply to revocation proceedings. Petitioner cites to Representative Rutherford’s proposed 2017 amendment to the statute in support of his argument. However, subsection (b) of the proposed amendment even specifies that the right of confrontation applies “only [to] a *potential parolee* who is being *considered for parole . . .*” (emphasis added). Because *Morrissey*’s limited due process rights apply only to parole *revocation* proceedings, it is not applicable to section 24–21–50 nor does it render the statute unconstitutional.

III. The PCR court properly denied relief where Petitioner’s parole revocation proceedings did not violate his limited due process rights under *Morrissey*.

Because parolees are statutorily barred from appealing once their parole is revoked,³ South Carolina case law on the topic is limited. However, both our Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court have made it abundantly clear that “there is no thought to equate [parole and probation revocation proceedings] to a criminal prosecution in any sense.” *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 489, 92 S. Ct. 2593, 33 L. Ed. 2d 484 (1972); *State v. Hill*, 368 S.C. 649, 659, 630 S.E.2d 274, 280 (2006). A parolee is not entitled to “the full panoply” of due process rights to which a criminal defendant is entitled. *Morrissey*, 408 U.S. at 480. In *Morrissey*, the Supreme Court explained:

Parole arises after the end of the criminal prosecution, including imposition of sentence. Supervision is not

³ “The board shall be the sole judge as to whether or not a parole has been violated and *no appeal therefrom shall be allowed . . .*” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-680 (emphasis added).

directly by the court but by an administrative agency, which is sometimes an arm of the court and sometimes of the executive. Revocation deprives an individual, not of the absolute liberty to which every citizen is entitled, but only of the conditional liberty properly dependent on observance of special parole restrictions.

Id. at 480. Recognizing the interests involved in parole revocation proceedings differ significantly from those in criminal proceedings, the Court further noted:

Given the previous conviction and the proper imposition of conditions, the State has an overwhelming interest in being able to return the individual to imprisonment without the burden of a new adversary criminal trial if in fact he has failed to abide by the conditions of his parole.

Id. at 483. On the other hand, the State has no interest in revoking parole without some informal procedural guarantees. *Id.* at 483–84. Parole proceedings, moreover, are designed to be “predictive and discretionary” as well as fact finding,” rather than purely adversarial. *Gagnon v. Scarpelli*, 411 U.S. 778, 787 (1973) (quoting *Morrissey*, 408 U.S. at 480). Therefore, “[w]hat is needed is an informal hearing structured to assure that the finding of a parole violation will be based on verified facts and that the exercise of discretion will be informed by an accurate knowledge of the parolee’s behavior. *Morrissey*, 408 U.S. at 484.

The decision to revoke parole typically involves two distinct components: “(1) a retrospective factual question whether the [parolee] has violated a condition of probation; and (2) a discretionary determination by the sentencing authority whether violation of a condition warrants revocation of [parole].” *Black v. Romano*, 471 U.S. 606, 611 (1985) (citing *Morrissey*, 408 U.S. at 479–80). A parolee is therefore entitled to two hearings before his parole is revoked: (1) a preliminary hearing to determine

whether there is probable cause or reasonable ground to believe the parolee has committed acts which would constitute a violation of the conditions of parole and (2) a final revocation hearing, if desired by the parolee, to determine whether the facts as determined at the preliminary hearing warrant revocation. *Morrissey*, 408 U.S. at 485, 487.

Importantly, however, the Court “in *Morrissey* left the states with the responsibility of determining the exact procedures to be followed.” *Hill*, 368 S.C. at 655. In South Carolina, the Board of Pardons and Paroles (the Board) is a gubernatorial appointed, independent decision making body statutorily vested with sole authority in making discretionary parole decisions. A prisoner who is released on parole remains under the legal jurisdiction of the Board, and must comply with the terms and conditions of release as set by the Board. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-660; *Sanders v. MacDougall*, 244 S.C. 160, 163, 135 S.E.2d 836, 837 (1964). Under South Carolina law, “[w]hen a parolee violates the terms of his parole, “the parole agent must issue a warrant or citation charging the violation of parole.” § 24-21-680. “The board shall be the sole judge as to whether or not a parole has been violated and no appeal therefrom shall be allowed.” *Id.*

Preliminary Hearing

Preliminary hearings are conducted by hearing officers employed by the Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services, who must be neutral, detached, fair and impartial. Prior to the preliminary hearing, the parolee is entitled

to notice of the hearing and its purpose, as well as the violations which the parolee is alleged to have committed. *Id.* at 487; *Gagnon*, 411 U.S. at 786.

At the preliminary hearing itself, the parolee is entitled to: (1) appear and speak on his behalf; (2) present documentary evidence and witnesses on his behalf; (3) confront the witnesses against him, if requested by the parolee; (4) an independent decision maker; and (5) a written report of the hearing. *Gagnon*, 411 U.S. at 786 (extending *Morrissey*'s holding to probation revocation because "revocation of probation where sentence has been imposed previously is constitutionally indistinguishable from the revocation of parole").⁴

At the conclusion of Petitioner's preliminary hearing, Officer Rivers made the following findings based on "[Petitioner]'s own admission during testimony and on the testimony and evidence submitted by Agent Cook and Mrs. Leigh Cotton:"

I find that Mr. Justice has used alcoholic beverages to excess. Agent Cook testified that Mr. Justice was found to have used alcoholic beverages to excess, and found to be highly intoxicated during a home visit conducted by the

⁴ Although most of the same constitutional principles apply to both, it is important to note the distinctions between parole and probation in the context of revocation proceedings given that the General Assembly has seen fit to provide for different revocation authorities depending upon the status of a person as a parolee or a probationer. *State v. Crouch*, 355 S.C. 355, 360, 585 S.E.2d 288, 291 (2003). As an initial matter, probation implicates suspended sentence while parole is active sentence. "Probation is judicially-imposed at the time of sentencing: whether a violation of probationary terms has occurred, and, if so, the consequences of such a violation, are matters for the court." *Duckson v. State*, 355 S.C. 596, 598 n.2, 586 S.E.2d 576, 578 n.2 (2003) (citations omitted). "On the other hand, the Board of Parole, and Pardon Services determines both parole eligibility and revocations." *Id.* Thus, a parole revocation hearing, unlike a probation hearing, "is an administrative rather than a criminal proceeding." *Id.* at 598, 586 S.E.2d at 578. The board therefore has no power to partially revoke parole unlike a judge in a probation revocation proceeding.

agent on August 5, 2013. Agent Cook further testified that the purpose of the home visit was to instruct Mr. Justice to refrain from having any contact with Mrs. Leigh Cotton, his former employer, or Mrs. Cotton's family due to recent negative messages from Mr. Justice to Mrs. Cotton, and additional negative messages between Mr. Justice and Mrs. Cotton's son Herbert Dorsey Jr. Agent Cook further testified that she observed numerous alcohol (beer) containers in and around Mr. Justice's residence, and that Mr. Justice's appearance gave the agent reason to believe he had been consuming excessive amounts of alcoholic beverages.

I find that Mr. Justice willfully failed to pay the Board ordered Victim Restitution, statutory collection fee and the statutorily required Supervision Fee. Agent Cook testified that Mr. Justice failed to pay his required financial obligations as instructed yet reported employment at his last progress report, thus having the ability to pay based on income from employment. Agent Cook further stated that Mr. Justice has been terminated from his employment with Mrs. Leigh Cotton since his last progress report due to recent developments, that Mr. Justice does not suffer any medical, mental or physical infirmities to preclude employment, and as such had the ability to pay based on both his abilities to work and earn an income.

I find that Mr. Justice failed to follow the advice and instructions of the supervising agent. Agent Cook testified that Mr. Justice repeatedly failed to follow the advice and instructions of the supervising agent by having contact with Mrs. Leigh Cotton and her family despite being given explicit instructions and warnings from the supervising agent on August 5, 2013. Agent Cook additionally testified that despite the instructions and warnings, Mr. Justice continued to send threatening text messages and voicemail messages to Mrs. Cotton and her son Herbert Dorsey Jr. Mrs. Cotton also testified and presented multiple voicemail messages from her cellular telephone which clearly show the extent of Mr. Justice's threatening behavior on August 5, August 6, and August 7, 2013. Agent Cook also testified that Mr. Justice's threatening behavior escalated to the point of violence after he did assault Mr. Dorsey and his wife, Amanda Wessinger on August 7, 2013.

(Supp. App'x 22–23). Officer Rivers ultimately recommended the Board revoke Petitioner's parole. (Supp. App'x 24).

Final Hearing

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